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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

OF APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY DECISION

Appellants AT&T CSC, Inc., AT&T Corporation (“AT&T”) and AT&T Comcast Corporation (“AT&T Comcast”) have moved for summary decision on their appeal of the denial by the Board of Selectmen of the Town of Belmont (the “Board” or “Issuing Authority”) of their request for consent to transfer control of AT&T CSC, Inc., the current cable television licensee in the Town of Belmont operating as AT&T Broadband (“AT&T Broadband” or “licensee”).  A true and accurate copy of the Cable Television Transfer Report(the “Denial Report”) is in the Appellants’ Appendix in Support of Appeal (“Appendix”) submitted with this motion at Exhibit A.
This motion should be granted because the appellants have demonstrated in their Form 394, their responses to the Board’s written requests for information, and during a public hearing that AT&T Comcast has the management experience, financial capability, technical expertise, and legal qualifications to operate the system under the existing license as required under 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1).  It is hard to imagine companies that bring more experience and resources to running a cable system than a combination of the number one and number three cable television providers in America.  The Board disregarded this showing, alleging noncompliance with the License, demanding ”renovation” of the Belmont cable system not required by the existing license, and requiring assurances that AT&T Comcast will improve the quality of service provided by AT&T Broadband.   Furthermore, by basing its denial on grounds of alleged noncompliance, the Board acted contrary to the renewal process in Section 626 of the Cable Act, and its decision is therefore preempted by federal law. 

The Board’s stated grounds for denying the transfer request are beyond the scope of the criteria for transfer review established by 207 C.M.R. § 4.04 and the Cable Division’s decisions in MediaOne of Mass., Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of North Andover, Docket No. CTV 992, 99-3, 99-4, 99-5, Order on Motions For Summary Decision/Consolidation (May 1, 2000) (“MediaOne I”) and In the Matter of MediaOne of Mass., Inc., v. City Manager of the City of Cambridge, Docket No. 99-4 Interlocutory Order on Scope of the Proceeding (Sept. 1, 2000) (“MediaOne II”).  The Board has thus unreasonably and arbitrarily withheld its consent to the transfer in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7. 

The Board’s decision presents no genuine issue of material fact as to the managerial, financial, technical or legal qualifications of AT&T Comcast to operate under the License, and allows the Division to rule as a matter of law that the Board has unreasonably withheld its consent to the transfer of control in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.  A summary decision for the appellants is therefore appropriate.

UNDISPUTED FACTS

1. AT&T Broadband is the existing operator of the cable television system in the Town of Belmont pursuant to a Cable Television Renewal License dated October 2, 1989 (the “License”).  A true and accurate copy of the License is Exhibit B to the Appendix.  

2. When AT&T Broadband acquired the Belmont cable system from Cablevision, the Board voted to approve the change of control of Belmont’s cable television renewal license to AT&T on October 10, 2000.  The approval reflects the Board’s determination that AT&T possessed the management experience, technical expertise, financial capability and legal ability to assume the cable operations in Belmont.  A true and accurate copy of the October 10, 2000 letter is in the Appendix at Exhibit C.    

3. As of December 19, 2001, AT&T and Comcast entered into a merger agreement, under which a new AT&T Broadband Corporation with all of the cable television assets of AT&T will merge with Comcast Corporation to form AT&T Comcast Corporation.  This merger is scheduled to be completed before the end of 2002.  

4. The merger – and the change of control of the licensee – is entirely at the parent level.  AT&T Comcast will become the new controlling parent company of the current licensee, AT&T CSC, Inc.  The latter will continue to operate the cable system in Belmont under the existing license, and the legal obligations under the existing license will remain unchanged.  

5. On March 1, 2002, AT&T Corporation, as the parent company of AT&T Broadband, and AT&T Comcast, as transferee, submitted an application to the Board on FCC Form 394 seeking the Board’s approval for the transfer of control from AT&T to AT&T Comcast.  The Form 394 was signed by Brian Roberts, President and CEO of AT&T Comcast Corporation, and by Rick Bailey, Vice President of AT&T Corporation, who both certified in Section V of Form 394 that the statements in the application are “true, complete and correct” and “made in good faith.”  A true and accurate copy of the Form 394, along with attachments, is on file with the Cable Division. 

6. Section V, Part II of Form 394 also contains the certification by Brian Roberts on behalf of AT&T Comcast as transferee, that the transferee “[h]as a current copy of the franchise that is the subject of this application, and of any applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations,” and “[w]ill use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as possible, in the operation of the system, if any changes are necessary to cure any violations thereof or defaults thereunder presently in effect or ongoing.”  

7. On March 26 and 27, the Board, through its attorney Peter J. Epstein, sent AT&T Comcast supplemental requests for information containing a total of 33 questions.  AT&T Comcast responded to these requests by two letters dated April 5, 2002.  True and accurate copies of the supplemental requests for information and AT&T Comcast’s responses are in the Appendix at Exhibit D and Exhibit E, respectively.

8. The Board held a public hearing on the request for transfer of control application on April 11, 2002.  A true and accurate copy of the transcript of the April 11, 2002 public hearing (“Public Hearing Tr.”) is in the Appendix at Exhibit F.


AT&T Comcast’s Legal Qualifications.

9. AT&T Comcast will be the ultimate parent company of the franchisee.  The Form 394 showed that it is duly incorporated in Pennsylvania.  The current licensee, AT&T CSC, Inc., will remain in place and continue to hold all necessary licenses and authorizations to provide cable service in the state of Massachusetts.   See April 5, 2002 letter response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 6, Question 11 (Exhibit E); Exhibit 4 to Form 394.  AT&T CSC, Inc. is duly qualified to do business in Massachusetts.  Id.        

10. AT&T Comcast also certified in its Form 394 that it will “use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as practicable, in the operation of the system, if any changes are necessary to cure any violations thereof or defaults presently in effect or ongoing.”  See Form 394, Section V, part II (c).     

11. AT&T Comcast affirmed again at the April 11, 2002 public hearing that Brian Roberts, President of Comcast and President and CEO of AT&T Comcast, has reviewed the Belmont cable franchise and “agrees to be bound by all the terms contained within that franchise,” and that AT&T Comcast will “live and abide to the letter of the law with respect to the obligations that became of the franchise.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 29-30 (Exhibit F). 


AT&T Comcast’s Financial Capability.

12. AT&T Comcast has certified in the Form 394 “that it has sufficient net liquid assets on hand or available from committed resources to consummate the transaction and operate the facilities for three months.”  Form 394, Section III, Question 1.

13. In addition, AT&T Comcast attached as exhibits to the Form 394 (a) the pro forma Financial Statement/Prospectus for AT&T Comcast filed with the SEC on February 11, 2002; (b) AT&T Comcast’s audited Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001 for each of AT&T Corporation and Comcast Corporation; and (c) the audited Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 for each of AT&T Corporation and Comcast Corporation.  Pro Forma Financial Statements at Exhibit 9 of Form 394; Form 10-Q and Form 10-K included in CD ROM attached to Exhibit 2 of Form 394.  The combined financial statement and accompanying notes thereto for AT&T Broadband Group included in the Proxy filed with the SEC, incorporated by reference in the information request responses provided to the Board and available at www.cmcsk.com at “SEC filings,” further amplified the financial qualifications of a combined AT&T and Comcast.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 7, Question 13 (Exhibit E).

14. AT&T Comcast explained that “[t]he pro forma financial statement provided in the Form 394 was included in the Proxy filed with the SEC and was prepared in accordance with SEC rules and regulations,” and also listed the Internet website where the Proxy statement is available.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 4-5, Question 6 (Exhibit D).  

15. AT&T Comcast further explained that the pro forma financial statements for AT&T Comcast derive from the audited historical combined financial statements and accompanying notes for each of AT&T Broadband and Comcast Corporation April 5, 2002 letter response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 7, Question 13 (Exhibit E).  That historical financial information was attached as Exhibit 9 to Form 394.  

16. AT&T Comcast will have total assets of approximately $141 billion, annual revenues of approximately $18 billion, and annual EBITDA of approximately $4.6 billion.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 4-5, Question 6 (Exhibit D). 

17. At the public hearing AT&T Broadband’s Manager of Government Affairs Peggy Sullivan explained that the information contained in the financial documents produced with Form 394, showed that, as a result of the merger, AT&T Comcast expects to have a combined debt to operating cash flow of 5:1, which is a substantial improvement over AT&T Broadband’s current 8:1 cash-flow ratio, so that AT&T Comcast will be “in a better financial position than the current parent corporation is.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 25 (Exhibit F).  See “Financing Considerations” at 2, submitted as an attachment to April 5, 2002 response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 10, Question 21 (Exhibit E) and Exhibit 8 to Public Hearing Tr. (Exhibit F).  Although not required to do so, AT&T Comcast demonstrated in these materials that the merger produces an improved financial position.

18. AT&T Comcast estimates that the merger will improve the financial strength of both companies through “synergies and efficiencies worth approximately $1.25 to $1.95 billion.  This estimate includes cost savings due to the elimination of corporate overhead costs, modernization of programming expenditures and improved operating margins.  The merged company is also expect to save $200 to $300 million annually from lower prices due to the increased scale of capital expenditures.”  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 9, Question 19 (Exhibit E).  Fitch Ratings has assigned an investment-grade rating of BBB to AT&T Comcast’s senior unsecured debt obligations.  Id.  

19. AT&T Comcast then responded to questions raised at the April 11, 2002 public hearing by letter dated June 24, 2002.  That letter discusses reductions in AT&T Comcast’s debt level as a result of the sale of some non-strategic investments that have either already occurred or will are likely to occur, and explains that the resulting $22 billion debt would give AT&T Comcast “a debt to cash flow ratio well below industry standards.”  June 24, 2002 letter response at 1-2, a true and accurate copy of which is in the Appendix at Exhibit G.  


AT&T Comcast’s Managerial Experience. 
20. Together, AT&T and Comcast bring over 60 years of combined experience and expertise in the cable industry to AT&T Comcast.  Exhibit 10 to Form 394. 

21. AT&T Comcast explained that there will be twelve members of its board of directors, three of whom have already been chosen, and the remainder of whom will be chosen in accordance with Section 9.08 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, a copy of which was attached to Exhibit 2 to Form 394 in CD-ROM form.  Ten of the twelve board members will be drawn from the existing Board of Directors of AT&T and Comcast, whose members were listed in an attachment to Form 394 Section I, Question 2.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 4, Question 4(a),(c) (Exhibit D).

22. Comcast Corporation was selected as the Cable Operator of the Year in 2000 by Cablevision magazine, which stated: 

Comcast has set an example for the rest of the industry by demonstrating how a cable company can:  


(
continue to increase its subscriber base in the face of strong competition;


( 
bring digital cable to many more customers than projected by even the most optimistic forecasts;


(
consolidate and vastly increase its presence in major markets without adversely affecting the balance sheet;


(
create the world’s largest single cable cluster (4.2 million homes passed);


(
grow to eight million subscribers and become the industry’s third largest player while continuing to set a plant upgrade pace that never slowed or faltered.  This, despite the addition of many properties that some sellers had been slow to upgrade.

Cablevision, September 11, 2000 at 3A, attached to June 24, 2002 letter response (Exhibit G).

23. Brian Roberts, President of Comcast, will be President and CEO of AT&T Comcast with day-to-day authority over the operation of the business.  He will be responsible for selecting the management team.  Exhibit 10 to Form 394.  

24. AT&T Comcast also provided the Board with data describing its customer service performance pre- and post- acquisition from four communities recently acquired by Comcast  (Plymouth, Michigan; Nashville, Tennessee; Prince George’s County, Maryland; and Washington, D.C.) reflecting the plant upgrades, technical improvements and advanced services provided for those communities.  See Attachments to June 24, 2002 letter response (Exhibit G).  


AT&T Comcast’s Technical Expertise.
25.  Taken together, AT&T and Comcast have been responsible for the construction, upgrade, and maintenance of over 432,000 miles of fiber optic and coaxial networks in the United States.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 6, Question 9 (Exhibit  D).
26. Both companies have completed cable system upgrades over the vast majority of this plant.  Upon the completion of the merger, approximately 80% of AT&T Comcast’s customers will be served by systems with a capacity of at least 550 MHz, with approximately 67% served by systems with a capacity of  750 MHz or greater.  See “Financing Considerations” at 2, submitted as an attachment to April 5, 2002 response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 10, Question 21 (Exhibit E) and Exhibit 8 to Public Hearing Tr. (Exhibit F).
27. The upgraded networks that will belong to AT&T Comcast provide high reliability ratings.  The AT&T Broadband systems in the Northeast Region have a reliability rating of 99.99%.  The Northeast Region of AT&T Broadband is a technical pioneer in introducing services such as high speed Internet access via cable modems, and residential telephone service.  Powerpoint presentation materials attached to Public Hearing Tr. at 14 (Exhibit F).  

The Public Hearing.
28. The Board’s review of the transfer application included review of the licensee’s compliance with the existing license.  The agenda for the April 11, 2002 public hearing included, among other items, “compliance with current final license in the Town and applicable laws.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 8 (Exhibit F).  

29. Dick Norris, Chairman of Belmont’s Cable Advisory Committee, stated: “What I would think is very important, is of that $2.6 billion how much is being allocated to upgrading the technology of the system in Belmont in 2002.  And if you aren’t prepared to make a statement along those lines, then this particular exhibit [AT&T Comcast’s “Financing Considerations,” Public Hearing Exhibit 8] is worthless…. so we are asking you are you willing to make a statement that would bind AT&T Comcast with regard to the expenditures it will make for Belmont in 2002?”  Id. at 27, 29.

30. Board Chairman William Brownsberger stated: “I want to make clear our position and our understanding is that AT&T is committed to Belmont to provide upgraded Internet service, and that commitment is long ago breached and we do not believe that we’re going to transfer this license to anybody who cannot assure us with concrete assurances, as opposed to general assurances, that you’re going to meet those obligations.  And to us ‘specific assurances’ means specific dates and times and funds get aside in a visible escrow location…. We expect you to provide us better assurances than you’re providing tonight or else this license won’t be transferred.”  Id. at 31, 36.

31. The Board issued its written decision explaining the reasons for its denial on June 24, 2002.   Denial Report (Exhibit A).  

ARGUMENT


An issuing authority’s consent to a transfer of control “shall not be arbitrarily or unreasonably withheld.” G.L. c. 166A, §7.  The Division has interpreted the statute by defining in 207 C.M.R. §4.04 the four criteria that an Issuing Authority may consider as well as factors it may not consider.
  Withholding consent based on such factors or other grounds outside those four criteria is – as a matter of law – unreasonable and arbitrary in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.  See MediaOne I at 33 (withholding consent based on considerations outside 207 C.M.R. §4.04 criteria “as a matter of law” was arbitrary and unreasonable under G.L. c. 166A, §7).  Because, as demonstrated below, the Issuing Authority’s grounds are inconsistent with Division’s regulations and decisions and pre-empted by federal law, withholding its consent was arbitrary and unreasonable.


I.
THERE IS NO GENUINE DISPUTE THAT AT&T COMCAST SATISFIES THE FOUR CRITERIA OF 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1). 


  As the Division has repeatedly summarized the focus of these four criteria, it is to ensure that the transferee is “fully qualified” to operate under the existing franchise.  MediaOne II at 4; MediaOne I at 15, 28, 36.  In making this determination, “the underlying concern is providing the issuing authority an opportunity to determine whether the transferee can assume the obligations of the transferor and continue the level of service provided by the transferor” and thereby “‘step into the shoes’ of the transferor.”  Bay Shore Cable TV Assocs. v. Weymouth, CATV Docket No. A-55 (1985) at 3); accord, In Re Amendment of 207 C.M.R. 4.01-4.06, CATV Docket No. R-24, Report and Order (Nov. 27, 1995)(“1995 Rulemaking”) at 17, 18.  In Form 394, in responses to the Board’s requests for information, and at the April 11, 2002 public hearing, AT&T Comcast demonstrated that it is “fully qualified” to step into the shoes of AT&T as the corporate parent of the licensee.  


Form 394 was created “with the expectation that the information required by the form would establish the legal, technical, and financial qualifications of the proposed transferee or assignee.”
    In eliminating the use of its own Form 100 for transfers and relying exclusively on Form 394 instead, the Division found that the FCC form supplies enough information to evaluate the four criteria under 207 C.M.R. § 4.04.  1995 Rulemaking at 10-11.  AT&T Comcast’s Form 394, and the additional information supplied in response to the issuing authority’s requests, thus presumptively establish the qualifications of AT&T Comcast.


In applying the licensing standards from which Form 394 was derived,
 the FCC has found a license applicant’s qualifications “evidenced by its well-documented experience and that of its predecessors in establishing and operating a satellite system . . .. [and] the Commission’s prior determinations that the applicant was legally qualified.”  In the Matter of PanAmSat Licensee Corporation Application, DA 02-1287, Order and Authorization, 2002 WL 1065928, ¶ 6 (2002).  The Belmont Board has made a prior determination that AT&T is qualified as a licensee:  when AT&T acquired Cablevision of Massachusetts, Inc. from Cablevision Systems Corp., the Board voted to approve the change of control, evidently finding that AT&T had the management experience, technical expertise, financial capability, and legal ability to operate a cable system under the existing license.  See October 10, 2000 approval letter (Exhibit C).  In the face of different findings relating to that same AT&T, fair and rational administrative decisionmaking demands that the Board “supply a reasoned analysis for the change beyond that which may be required when an agency does not act in the first instance.”  Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of the U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 42 (1983).  In other words, the Board must justify its sudden about-face on AT&T’s qualifications.


A.
Legal Ability.


AT&T Comcast demonstrated that it is duly incorporated and that the licensee is qualified to do business in Massachusetts.  It certified that it would be bound by the terms of the existing License.  Form 394, Section V, Part II(c); April 5, 2002 letter response from March 27, 2002 request for information at 6, Question 11 (Exhibit E); Exhibit 4 to Form 394.  It affirmed at the public hearing through its Senior Operations Counsel that it will “live and abide to the letter of the law with respect to the obligations that became of the franchise.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 29-30 (Exhibit F).          


This legal power to bind itself to the existing license is the essential element called for in Part I, Section I, Questions 1 and 3 of Form 394.  It demonstrates legal ability to comply with the license by providing “evidence of any license obligations that [AT&T Comcast] has to assume upon completion of the transfer.”  MediaOne II at 5.  This is consistent with the showing of legal qualifications that the FCC requires of its licensees in the standards on which Form 394 is based.  See, e.g., In The Matter of Application of Space Data International LLC, 16 FCC Rcd 9266, ¶ 9 (May, 2001)(applicant is legally qualified because it submitted relevant FCC form showing that it has never been convicted of a felony, is controlled exclusively by U.S. citizens, and does not propose to provide common carrier service).  


Questions 4 and 5 in the same Form 394 section on legal qualifications ask information about adverse findings that include denial or revocation of franchises.  Under FCC licensing standards, any such adverse findings must amount to “misconduct,” such as commission of a felony, so as to amount to a legal disqualification from holding a license.
  See Continental Cablevision of Mass., Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of Danvers, CATV Docket No. A-29, Decision at 11 (Nov. 29, 1983) (applicant for initial license ineligible due to complicity in bribery attempt); Inland Bay Cable TV Associates, CATV Docket No. A-16, Decision at 5 (Sept. 4, 1981 (ineligible due to material misrepresentation on application); Teleprompter of Weymouth, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of Weymouth, CATV Docket A-14, Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion to Dismiss at 5-6 (May 4, 1981) (ineligible due to conflict with cross-ownership rules).  Nothing in the record of decision or the Board’s decision itself reflects any such basis for legal disqualification.    
Instead, the only explanation the Board gives for rejecting AT&T Comcast’s legal ability to comply with the License is that “the FTC and other federal regulatory agencies have not approved the AT&T Broadband – Comcast merger,” and therefore AT&T Comcast “is a non-existent entity.”  Denial Report at 4-5 (Exhibit A).  Nothing in federal law, Chapter 166A, the Division’s regulations, Form 394, or the License conditions authority to operate a cable system on receiving FCC licenses or any other federal approvals.  

Moreover, as discussed further below,
 the Issuing Authority cannot deny a transfer request based on information unreasonably demanded, such as the FCC approvals the Board required here.  Until federal approvals are received, AT&T and Comcast are restricted in their ability to make operating plans for AT&T Comcast.  The merger is subject to Section 7A of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §18A, commonly known as Title II of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvement Act of 1976.  This act not only prohibits consummation of certain transactions until a waiting period has expired, but also prohibits taking steps to integrate the merging companies.
  The clearance process has not been completed.  The Board’s complaint that the merger has not closed essentially faults AT&T Comcast for not consummating the merger before necessary approvals have taken place (including the Board’s own!).  This is pure Catch-22 reasoning.
The Board’s reasons have nothing to do with AT&T Comcast’s corporate authority, its legal qualifications to do business, or its legal qualifications (or disqualifications) to hold a cable license.  Thus, there is no genuine issue of material fact about AT&T Comcast’s legal ability to comply with the License as the parent of AT&T CSC, Inc.  


B.
Managerial And Technical Ability.




AT&T Comcast documented its managerial experience and technical expertise by showing, among other things, the 60 years of combined experience and expertise in the cable industry that AT&T and Comcast bring to the merged company; the experience of the named directors, including Brian Roberts, who will President and CEO; and the hundreds of thousands of miles high bandwidth, advanced network plant each has currently deployed (not to speak of the additional plant constructed and maintained over the preceding 30 years), allowing them to be technical pioneers in the delivery of cable services.
  
Like AT&T and its predecessors, Comcast brings to the merger “well-documented experience … in establishing and operating a [cable] system” as to which there can be no serious dispute.  PanAmSat Application, supra,  ¶ 6.   Indeed, Comcast was selected as the Cable Operator of the Year in 2000 by Cablevision magazine, which stated that it “has set an example for the rest of the industry” by demonstrating how a cable company can continue to provide excellent service as it grows.  Cablevision, September 11, 2000 at 3A, attached to June 24, 2002 letter response (Exhibit G).  AT&T Comcast also provided the Board with data describing its customer service performance pre- and post- acquisition from four large communities recently acquired by Comcast, such as Nashville and Washington, D.C.,  reflecting the plant upgrades, technical improvements and advanced services provided for those communities.  See Attachments to June 24, 2002 letter response (Exhibit G).


Despite such showings, the Board’s decision focuses exclusively on AT&T Broadband, ignoring Comcast’s recognized technical expertise and managerial experience, or that of Brian Roberts as President and CEO of AT&T Comcast with day-to-day authority over its operations.  Plainly put, if these companies do not have the requisite experience, no one does.

In explaining, with respect to technical expertise for example, that upon the merger 80% of AT&T Comcast’s customers will be served by systems with a capacity of at least 550 MHz, and 67% served by systems with a capacity of 750 MHz or greater, among other evidence, appellants have provided the type of reasonable “forward-looking presentations” that the Cable Division has held may demonstrate an applicant’s managerial experience and technical expertise.  See MediaOne II at 5.  But the Board refused to entertain any “forward-looking presentations” by finding that “AT&T Comcast does not exist other than as a paper filing” and that “there is no way to evaluate the management experience of a corporation with no history and with no functional management structure.”  Denial Report at 3.  See id. (“transferee is a company that currently exists on paper only with absolutely no track record to verify its financial capability”).

The Board demanded more evidence than AT&T Comcast reasonably can provide.  Where a merger (as opposed to an acquisition) is involved, AT&T Comcast cannot have a “history” or a “track record.”  By the Board’s standard, no approval ever would be possible for such a merger.  Yet such mergers are a fact in interstate commerce and public markets, as the history of cable television in Massachusetts reflects: Warner Cable and American Express merged into Warner-Amex, then Warner Cable and Time Inc. into Time Warner, and Time Warner and America Online into AOL Time Warner.  Each of these merged companies began as a “paper company” with no “track record.”   
By demanding a “track record” or “history,” the Board requires information AT&T Comcast cannot supply, and exceeds the limits of Section 617 of the 1992 Cable Act as amended.  Under this provision and FCC regulations applying it, a transfer applicant can be called on to supply information “reasonably requested” by the franchising authority.  47 C.F.R. 76.502(a) (emphasis added).  By corollary, the applicant need not respond to unreasonable information requests, and a franchising authority violates Section 617 if it denies the application because it does not have information unreasonably requested.  Charter Communications, Inc. v. County of Santa Cruz, 133 F. Supp.2d 1184, 1208-09 (N.D.Cal. 2001).  That is what the Belmont Board has done in its decision.

C.
Financial Ability.

The Board did the same in its review of AT&T Comcast’s financial qualifications to step in as parent corporation.  As required, AT&T Comcast certified that it has sufficient net liquid assets to consummate the merger and operate the cable system for three months and submitted one year’s financial statements of the merging companies.  Form 394, Section III.  Nothing in the Board’s Denial Report calls into question this certification or raises any question as to the adequacy of the financial assets shown on the pro forma combined balance sheet.  Indeed, the Board raises no concrete financial issue.  

Instead, the Board concludes that AT&T Comcast lacks the requisite financial qualifications because of an unspecified “amount of debt being incurred by the Transferee,” and speculation about the “possibility” that AT&T Comcast “if and when it becomes a real company, may have $10 billion, $20 billion, or $40 billion of capital commitments.”  Denial Report at 3.  In fact, the record shows that AT&T Comcast expects a combined debt to operating cash flow of less than 5:1, more favorable than that of AT&T, and the merger will produce synergies and cost reductions that will lower AT&T Comcast’s debt and result in increased earning of almost $2 billion per year.  Public Hearing Tr. at 25 and “Financing Considerations” attached as Exhibit 6 thereto (Exhibit F).  The Board made part of the record at the public hearing a copy of a Wall Street Journal article about a decline in investors’ confidence in the cable industry as a whole, but that article provides no specific evidence about Comcast that puts its financial capability in question.  See article at Exhibit 9 to Public Hearing Tr. (Exhibit F).  The Board’s speculation of “possibilities” does not raise a genuine issue of material fact as to AT&T Comcast’s financial capability to operate under the License.     

To the extent that the Board voiced concern that AT&T Comcast supplied unaudited pro formas, those concerns should be dispelled by the facts that the Forms 10-Q and 10-K for AT&T and Comcast from which the pro formas were derived were audited, that the pro formas satisfied the requirements of the SEC for proxy statements by public companies, and that they were relied on by Fitch Ratings in establishing an investment-grade credit rating for AT&T Comcast debt.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 27, 2002 request for information at 7, Question 13 (Exhibit E); April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 4-5, Question 6 (Exhibit D); Public Hearing Tr. at 24 (Exhibit F).

The Board also found that AT&T Comcast provided only historical financial information for the constituent companies, and did “not include financial projections on a going forward basis.”  Denial Report at 3 (Exhibit A).  But for the reasons discussed above, no historical data was possible for a company that was not authorized to consummate its merger.  Form 394 does not require projections.
  In none of the requests for information did the Board ask for financial projections.  And, in any event, “[i]n a transaction where the threshold issues of financial, legal and technical qualifications were established, it was unreasonable to launch a sweeping inquisition . . . .”  Santa Cruz, supra¸ 133 F.Supp.2d at 1211. 


AT&T Comcast has shown its ability to “step into the shoes” of the current license holder and fulfill the existing franchise obligations.  Nothing in the Board’s Denial Report genuinely disputes AT&T’s specific showings in support of its Form 394 that prove its qualifications under the applicable criteria in 207 C.M.R. §4.04.  MediaOne I at 10-11.  “[T]he mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no genuine issue of material fact.  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986).  The Board cannot “respond and allege specific facts which would establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in order to defeat [AT&T Comcast’s] motion for summary judgment.”  Instead, as set forth below, the Board’s Denial Report raises disputes on collateral matters outside the scope of the four criteria of 207 C.M.R. § 4.04.  As a matter of law, the Board’s withholding of consent was arbitrary and unreasonable.  See MediaOne I at 33. 

II.
THE BOARD’S DENIAL TURNED IMPROPERLY ON FACTORS OUTSIDE THE DIVISION’S CRITERIA AND PRIOR DECISIONS.

  
The Board wrongly concludes that AT&T Comcast is unqualified to operate the Belmont cable system, demanding commitments to “renovate” Belmont’s cable system (which is not required under the License), basing its denial on AT&T Broadband’s alleged noncompliance with the License, and requiring assurances of benefits to the Town.  These issues belong in the upcoming renewal process.  Preempting that process, the Board crafted a written decision that shoehorns into the four criteria in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1) issues beyond the scope of the Board’s review.

A.
The Board Improperly Attempted To Renegotiate The License By Requiring An Upgrade To Belmont’s Cable System.


The Denial Report was based explicitly on demands for upgrades when it found (a) with respect to AT&T Comcast’s management experience “that the cable system has not been renovated . . . ;” (b) with respect to AT&T Comcast’s financial capability, that AT&T Broadband “could not renovate the Belmont cable system” and “[w]hile AT&T Comcast states that it is committed to spending billions of dollars to renovate systems throughout the country, there is (i) no explanation of exactly what total commitments AT&T Comcast will have and (ii) no explanation of where and how such money will be spent. . . .  What does appear clear is that AT&T Comcast will not have enough money to renovation [sic] the Belmont cable system”; and (c) with respect to technical expertise that “AT&T Broadband has been unable to renovate the system . . . .”  Denial Report at 2-4 (Exhibit A).  


Despite its desire for system renovations and upgrades, however, missing from the Denial Report is reference to any  provision requiring such upgrades under the existing License.    An obligation to upgrade therefore would require amendment of the existing license, or negotiation of a renewal license.
 

The Division’s regulations are clear that in the transfer review process, “an issuing authority shall not propose amendments to or renegotiate the terms of the existing license or any license renewal proposal.”  207 C.M.R. §4.04(2).  This regulation was adopted to provide a clear statement of long-standing policy and precedent.  1995 Rulemaking at 18.  The Division reaffirmed that this well-established standard “codifies the principle that transfer review is not an opportunity for issuing authorities to propose amendments or to renegotiate the terms of the existing license.”  MediaOne I at 14.  

The Board rejected AT&T Comcast’s financial capability because “[w]hat does appear clear is that AT&T Comcast will not have enough money to renovation [sic] the Belmont cable system.” Denial Report at 3 (Exhibit A).  Such a complaint is not about whether AT&T Comcast is financially qualified or capable of operating the existing license (which requires no upgrades), but focuses instead on seeking commitments of “where and how such money will be spent.”  Id.  As Dick Norris, Chairman of Belmont’s Cable Advisory Committee, stated at the public hearing: “What I would think is very important, is of that $2.6 billion how much is being allocated to upgrading the technology of the system in Belmont in 2002.  And if you aren’t prepared to make a statement along those lines, then this particular exhibit [AT&T Comcast’s “Financing Considerations,” Public Hearing Exhibit 8] is worthless…. so we are asking you are you willing to make a statement that would bind AT&T Comcast with regard to the expenditures it will make for Belmont in 2002?”  Public Hearing Tr. at 27, 29.  AT&T Comcast’s obligation in this process is to bind itself to the existing license, not to expenditures for whatever other things the Town might want.


Likewise with respect to technical expertise, AT&T Comcast demonstrated that both AT&T Broadband and Comcast have extensively upgraded systems throughout the country.  The Board was aware that AT&T Broadband has upgraded cable systems in other communities.  See Public Hearing Tr. at  41, 67, 83.  Thus, its real complaint is not that AT&T Broadband does not have the necessary technical expertise to operate under the License, but that it has not used its expertise to upgrade the system in Belmont.


The Board made it clear that without specific commitments of upgrades in Belmont, it would not consent to the transfer.  Board Chairman William Brownsberger emphasized the point: 

I want to make clear our position and our understanding is that AT&T is committed to Belmont to provide upgraded Internet service, and that commitment is long ago breached and we do not believe that we’re going to transfer this license to anybody who cannot assure us with concrete assurances, as opposed to general assurances, that you’re going to meet those obligations.  And to us ‘specific assurances’ means specific dates and times and funds set aside in a visible escrow location. . . . We expect you to provide us better assurances than you’re providing tonight or else this license won’t be transferred.  


Id. at 31, 36 (emphasis supplied).  


AT&T Comcast need not demonstrate the funding or commitment for an upgrade to step into the shoes of AT&T as parent of the licensee.  By requiring such a commitment in exchange for its consent to the transfer, the Board attempted to begin renewal negotiations.  When such commitments were not forthcoming, the Board unreasonably withheld its consent.  See MediaOne I at 24.


B.
The Board Improperly Based Its Denial On Compliance Issues.


The Cable Division has firmly held that compliance with the terms of the License is not among the four criteria set forth in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1) and “the issue of whether or not [the transferor] has complied with its license obligations is not relevant” to a transfer proceeding.  MediaOne II at 5.  A denial “cannot be based on [its] alleged failure to rectify any problems existing under the License.” Id.  AT&T Comcast “is not obligated to provide solutions to alleged non-compliance issues imported into the transfer process from the ongoing license renewal process.” MediaOne II at 4.  


Nonetheless, allegations of AT&T Broadband’s noncompliance with the terms of the License underlie the Board’s Denial Report on each of the four criteria.  Its findings on each criterion explicitly reflect its allegations of noncompliance:

· AT&T Broadband lacks adequate management experience because it is “not complying with the requirements of the FCC Customer Service Obligations,” and “not complying with applicable law(s) and/or with Final License provisions,” citing “the failure of AT&T Broadband to maintain equipment in its studio, as required.”  Denial Report at 2 (Exhibit A).

· AT&T Broadband’s lack of financial capability is deemed “one of the reasons that have resulted in AT&T Broadband’s non-compliance with the FCC Customer Service Obligations.”  Id. at 4.

· AT&T Broadband lacks technical expertise because it “has been unable to comply with the FCC’s Customer Obligations,” has been “unable to deliver adequate signal quality,” and “unable to maintain equipment in its studio in working order.”  Id. 

Denying a transfer based on allegations of noncompliance, as the Board does here, is precisely the approach denounced in MediaOne II.   As in that case, the Board “does not argue that [AT&T Comcast] is unable to comply with the existing License, but speculates that it will not comply.  [The Board’s] arguments focus more on the likelihood than the ability of [AT&T Comcast] to comply with the license terms.” MediaOne II at 4 (emphasis supplied).  

AT&T Comcast disputes these allegations of noncompliance, which cannot and should not be resolved in this transfer process.  The Cable Division “will not conduct a fact finding process to determine whether or not actual non-compliance existed” when the transfer application was denied.  MediaOne II at 5.  But to resolve the Board’s issues with AT&T Comcast’s managerial experience, financial capability, and technical expertise would require just such a factfinding expedition into the merits of the Board’s allegations of noncompliance.

The Division has recognized that “[t]he transfer process is not designed to resolve compliance issues that may have arisen at any point during the license term.” MediaOne II at 3.   Rather, they should be resolved as part of the renewal, amendment or revocation process under 207 C.M.R. §§3.05-3.07, 3.09; G.L. c. 166A, §§ 11, 13, 14, which afford more time and due process.  Id.  The Belmont License itself provides a three-step “Determination of Breach” process that requires (1) written notice of alleged defaults specifying the provision(s) that the issuing authority believes have been breached, (2) a public hearing followed by a written finding of facts supporting a determination of breach, if any, and (3) up to 90 days in which to cure the breach.  Final License Agreement, Section 27 (Exhibit B). The license also contains numerous other enforcement mechanisms – annual performance evaluations (covering system performance, License compliance, customer service and complaint response, services provided, penalties, applications of new technologies, and other issues) (Section 22), the statutorily-required performance bond (Section 7), revocation (Section 26 and G.L. c.166A, § 11), and liquidated damages (Section 23).  The Denial Report does not state that Belmont has sent a notice of default to trigger the “Determination of Breach” process, nor held the required public breach hearing, issued a written determination of breach, or that the time to cure any such breach has expired.  The Board may not short-circuit this or any other process spelled out in the License by making a “finding” of noncompliance as part of a transfer review.  

In MediaOne II, the Division distinguished between the “transfer process” involved in Form 394 review, and the “franchising process” involving initial licensing, license administration and amendments, and license renewals.  Issues of noncompliance are “better suited for the renewal process, which considers the performance of the cable operator under the franchise during the current franchise term.”  MediaOne II at 5.  More recently, the Cable Division has reiterated (in the context of the very same transfer request at issue here) that an issuing authority may explore AT&T Comcast’s intent to comply with the License, but “the Town may not refuse a transfer based on a breach or a noncompliance issue with the transferee, in this case AT&T Corp.  Any breach proceeding must be separate from the transfer proceeding.”  Letter from Alicia C. Matthews, Director, to Thomas P. McCusker, Westwood Counsel at 1 (April 2, 2002)(Exhibit H).
In the more than two years left before the Belmont License expires (October 2, 2004), the parties will have ample opportunity to address these issues in the ways they are supposed to in the renewal process.  By injecting compliance issues into the transfer process, the Board has plainly acted outside the Division’s transfer regulations and decision in MediaOne II. 


C.
The Board Improperly Required Assurances Of Benefits To The Town.  


Much of the Denial Report reduces to the complaint that, under AT&T Comcast, things will remain the same.  The status quo may be a basis for dissatisfaction, but it is not proper grounds to withhold consent for a transfer.


A refrain in the Denial Report is the finding that, because “AT&T Comcast, as Transferee, has stated that the current management and staff of AT&T Broadband will remain in place after the transfer has been effectuated and will continue to operate the Belmont Cable System,” AT&T Comcast “will experience that same inadequate management and lack the same technical expertise in this area.”   Denial Report at 2-4 (emphasis added) (Exhibit A).  On this basis, it concludes as to both management experience and financial qualifications, “there is certainly no reason to believe that AT&T Comcast, that will have a great many more subscribers and a larger and different infrastructure, will do any better.”  Id.  


This demand to change operations and do “better” permeates the record; a central question at the April 11 public hearing was, “what we’re asking you and what all these gentlemen are asking you, what they’ve been slaving over for many, many months now, all we’re asking you is a commitment that because of all your advanced management experience, which you claim is better than most, that you will be able to fulfill the commitments that your predecessor wasn’t able to fulfill.” Public Hearing Tr. at 41-42 (Exhibit F).  


  Requiring additional benefits to subscribers improperly “attempts to re-define the standard of review with respect to cable license transfers” beyond the relevant factors set forth in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1).  MediaOne I at 34.  In its 1995 rulemaking, the Cable Television Commission expressly dropped from the amended regulations the requirement that an approval of a transfer request list the “specific benefits” to the community of the transfer.  1995 Rulemaking at 16.   The Commission was concerned that some might interpret the language “to mean that some ‘additional benefit’ must be extracted from the cable operator in exchange for the consent to the transfer application.”  Id.  Thus, a franchising authority “may not deny a transfer application based on the transfer applicant’s failure to demonstrate how it will improve cable services . . . .”  MediaOne I at 34.  That is precisely what the Board has done by requiring that AT&T Comcast demonstrate how it will “do any better.”
 


The “underlying concern” of the four criteria in 207 C.M.R. § 4.04 is to establish “whether the transferee can ‘step into the shoes of the transferor.’”  1995 Rulemaking at 17-18.  The Board’s focus on issues of license “non-compliance,” complaints about the “quality” or decisions of AT&T Broadband management, and questions about how AT&T Comcast will do “better” are out of place.  Differences over interpretation of License provisions and opinions that “[m]anagement is about how well services are delivered to subscribers, not about how many services are delivered” involve management decisions, not ability.  Denial Report at 2.  


The question before the Board was the qualifications of AT&T Comcast to step into the shoes of AT&T Corporation as parent of AT&T CSC, Inc.  The Board evidently does not like the fit or the look of those shoes.  But – compliant or not, efficient or not, popular or not – they are the shoes AT&T Comcast steps into, taking the License and the compliance record as it finds them.  If the transfer produces the “same management” then, for better or worse, AT&T Comcast steps into the shoes of AT&T and can “continue the level of service provided by the transferor.”  Bay Shore, supra, at 3.


The transfer review process “reflects a protective intent: to ensure that a transferee . . . is nonetheless fully qualified to fulfill the existing franchise obligations.”  MediaOne II at 4.  The transfer review process simply protects against transferees who are so unqualified that they cannot step into the shoes of the existing licensee.  Unlike in its grant of an initial license “the issuing authority’s discretion in approving or disapproving a license transfer is . . . more circumscribed.”  Teleprompter of Weymouth, supra, at 5.  


The issues raised in the Board’s Denial Report fail to demonstrate that AT&T Comcast  and the existing licensee are not qualified to operate a cable system under the License.  Even if these issues reflect meaningful customer dissatisfaction, such issues, like compliance issues, should be addressed through the many remedies of the franchising process.

III.
FEDERAL LAW PREEMPTS THE ISSUING AUTHORITY’S DECISION BECAUSE IT IS INCONSISTENT WITH SECTIONS 617 AND 626.


In distinguishing between the franchising process and the transfer process in MediaOne I and MediaOne II, the Division recognized that certain issues are incompatible with the requirement of Section 617 of the Cable Act to complete a transfer decision in 120 days.  Thus, the Division recognized that establishing compliance or noncompliance with the License does not fit this timetable.  That is particularly so in this case, where the License requires notice of noncompliance, followed by at least 30 days to respond and to cure any noncompliance, and then by hearing with 21 days public notice before the Issuing Authority can make any final determination on its part.  


Under these circumstances, demanding that AT&T Broadband respond to allegations of noncompliance with the License is a form of unreasonable information request in violation of Section 617.  See Santa Cruz, supra.  It requires resolution of the issues involved faster than they can be resolved consistent with the License.  Moreover, denying consent because AT&T has not acquiesced on these issues and given up its rights under the License is unreasonable.  See id., 133 F. Supp. 2d at 1201 (“to deny consent merely for refusing to pay unlawful fees or for refusing acquiesce in an unlawful rate freeze would be unreasonable”).


The Division specifically cited Section 626 of the Cable Act in recognizing the unsuitability of the transfer process to address franchise issues.  MediaOne II at 3.  Ascertainment hearings under Section 626(a) provide an opportunity to review “the performance of the operator under the franchise as well as future cable-related community need and interests. 47 U.S.C. § 546(a)(1).  The standards for denial include “whether the operator has substantially complied with the material terms of the existing franchise and with applicable law,” as well as whether “the quality of the operator’s service, including signal quality, response to consumer complaints, and billing practices . . . has been reasonable in light of community needs.”  Id. § 546 (c)(1)(A), (B).  These provisions anticipate a process spread over as much as three years, affording an opportunity to consider the full record; the due process protections of Section 626 (c) and (d) afford the cable operator an opportunity to demonstrate whether its compliance has been “substantial” and alleged noncompliance involves “material” franchise terms.  Indeed, the renewal process for Belmont began on October 2, 2001, with the Belmont License expiring in October, 2004.  


The Board’s denial sweeps all this aside.  On renewal, “[t]he Cable Act requires a town to analyze the operator’s renewal proposal on a case by case basis,” and when a town attempts to freeze this individualized process, it acts inconsistently with the Cable Act.  Time Warner Entertainment Co., L.P. v. Briggs, No. 92-40117-GN, 1993 WL 23710 at *3 (D. Mass. Jan. 14, 1993).  The Issuing Authority’s action is inconsistent  with Section 626 because it substitutes the Board’s hurried, unilateral edict for the full give-and-take anticipated under Section 626.


The Cable Act preempts any action by a franchising authority inconsistent with the Act.  47 U.S.C. § 556 (c).  Because the grounds of the Board’s denial decision are inconsistent with the processes and timetables under Sections 617 and 626, it is preempted.

CONCLUSION 


The pleadings and filings conclusively show that no genuine issue of material fact exists and AT&T Comcast is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  See Belmont Cable Assocs. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of Belmont, CATV Docket No. A-65, at 3 (1988).  Stripped of grounds outside the scope of 207 C.M.R. §4.04 that form the basis of the Board’s Denial Report, the Board lacks valid grounds to justify its denial.  The Board has unreasonably and arbitrarily withheld its consent in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.


The appellants therefore respectfully request that the Division issue a summary decision disapproving the decision by the Board to deny the appellants’ February 25, 2002 transfer application and order the Board to grant such application.
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� 207 C.M.R. § 4.04 provides:


	(1) In reviewing an application for a transfer or assignment of a license or control thereof, an issuing authority shall consider only the transferee’s


		(a) management experience,


		(b) technical expertise,


		(c) financial capability, and


		(d) legal ability


	to operate a cable system under the existing license.


(2) As part of an issuing authority’s review of an application for a transfer or assignment of a license or control thereof, an issuing authority shall not propose amendments to or renegotiate the terms of the existing license or any license renewal proposal. 


[It should be noted that, as laid out in the C.M.R. and in adoption of this rule and shown above, “to operate a cable system under the existing license” refers to all four criteria.  Quotation without reflecting the layout can make it appear as though this phrase modifies only “legal ability.”]


� In The Matter of Implementation of Sections 11 and 13 of the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, MM Docket No. 92-264, Memorandum Opinion and Order on Reconsideration of The First Report and Order, 10 FCC Rcd 4654 Jan. 12, 1995) at 23 (¶52); see id. at 25 (¶55).


� See id.¶ 55 & nn.115, 117 (1995) (Form 394 based on information required for broadcast and CARS licenses); In the Matter of Implementation of Sections 11 and 13 of the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 8 FCC Rcd 6828, ¶ 85 (1993). 


� In the Matter of Policy Regarding Character Qualifications in Broadcast Licensing Amendment of Rules of Broadcast Practice and Procedure Relating to Written Responses to Commission Inquiries and the Making of Misrepresentations to the Commission by Permittees and Licensees, Report, Order and Policy Statement, 102 F.C.C.2d 1179, ¶¶ 21, 23 (1986) (“Character Policy Statement”) (subsequent history omitted).


� See infra Section I B.


� 15 U.S.C. §18a(e)(2). “Consummating a merger or acquisition, or taking steps to integrate the companies before the end of the waiting period is a serious concern.”  Joseph G. Krauss, FTC Assistant Director, Premerger Notification Office, “New Developments in the Premerger Notification Program,” prepared remarks to District of Columbia Bar (October 7, 1998), available at www.ftc.gov/os/1998/9810/dcbar.htm.


� Exhibit 10 to Form 394.  April 5, 2002 letter response to March 26, 2002 request for information at 6, Question 9.  Public Hearing Tr. attached Powerpoint presentation at 14 (Exhibit F). 


� Form 100 does call for projections.  In dropping the use of Form 100 for transfers, the Division was specifically aware as a result of comments by Peter Epstein that Form 100 calls for more financial information. 1995 Rulemaking at  9, 11.   


� The existing license is for a term of 15 years expiring October 2, 2004.  License, Section 2(g).  The renewal window therefore began on October 2, 2001; AT&T Broadband notified the Issuing Authority on [insert date]of its intent to renew, as required by 47 U.S.C. §547(a).  A focus of the demand for an upgrade or rebuild was the desire to have cable modem service in Belmont.  E.g., Public Hearing Tr. at 30.  (“I want to make clear our position and our understanding is that AT&T is committed to Belmont to provide upgraded Internet service, and that commitment is long ago breached and we do not believe that we’re going to transfer this license to anybody who cannot assure us with concrete assurances, as opposed to general assurances, that you’re going to meet those obligations.”).  Now that the FCC has clarified that cable modem service is not “cable service” within the meaning of the Cable Act, it may be beyond the power of the franchising authority to demand such service in the license renewal process as well.  See Inquiry Concerning High-Speed Access to The Internet Over Cable And Other Facilities; Internet Over Cable Declaration Ruling Proceeding; Appropriate Regulatory Treatment for Broadband Access to the Internet Over Cable Facilities, GN Docket 00-185, CS Docket 02-52, Declaratory Ruling and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (March 14, 2002).


� The Board’s findings here are no different than the rejected finding that “AT&T has failed to make the case that the transfer, especially given its $58 billion price tag, would benefit Cambridge cable television subscribers.” MediaOne I at 33.
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